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AF TER FEBRU ARY 1943, the

shadow of Stalin grad ever

length ened ahead of Adolf

Hit ler.  The battle for that

city had ended in disas­

trous defeat, shatter ing the


myth of his military “Midas touch,” ending

his chances of defeat ing the Red Army,

per ma nently damag ing rela tions with Italy,

Ru ma nia, Hungary, and other allied na tions,1


and, of course, inflict ing heavy losses on his

east ern armies.  More than 150,000 Axis sol­

diers, most of them German, had been killed 

or wounded in the city's approaches or ru­

ins; 108,000 others stumbled into Soviet


cap tiv ity, 91,000 in the battle's last three 
days alone. (Although Hitler never learned 
of their fate, only six tho u s a nd ever re-
turned to Germany.) 

The battle has attracted consid er able schol­
arly and journal is tic atten tion.  Liter ally scores 
of books and arti cles on Stalin grad have ap­
peared during the 50 years since Stalin's ar­
mies bulldozed into Berlin, bringing the war 
in Europe to a close. Most have been pub­
lished in Germany and, to a lesser degree,
Rus sia, where the name “Stalin grad” still 
con jures up power ful and emotional im-
agery.2  Compara tively few have been pub­
lished in the English-- speaking world, and 
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Gen er al leut nant Martin Fiebig, in charge of the air corps 
given the task of keeping Sixth Army alive, repeat edly 
in sisted it was an impos si ble mission.  His views were 
ig nored. 

this is under stand able.  Because no British, 
Com mon wealth, or American forces took 
part in the battle, they can number none of 
their own among its many heroes, martyrs, 
pris on ers, and victims. Moreover, although 
the German defeat at Stalin grad was imme­
di ate ly seen in the West as a turning point, 
its effects were not directly felt by the 
Anglo- - American nations. 

The main focus of Stalin grad histo ri­
ography, includ ing the dozen books pub­
lished in 1992 and 1993 to commemo rate 
the battle's 50th anni ver sary, has been the 
fight ing, encir clem ent, suffer ing, and de­
struc tion of Gen er al feld mar schall Friedrich 
Pau lus's Sixth Army. Few books and arti cles 
have devoted adequate atten tion to the ac­
tivi ties of the Luftwaffe, although it made 
sub stan tial contri bu tions to all battles 
through out the 1942 summer campaign—of 

which Stalin grad was the climax—and it 
alone was respon si ble for the mainte nance 
of Sixth Army after Marshal G. K. Zhukov's 
forces severed it from all but radio contact 
with other German army forma tions.  Even 
fewer works—and none in English—have 
ana lyzed in depth Hitler's deci sion to supply 
the forces trapped at Stalin grad from the air, 
even though this deci sion led to the destruc­
tion of those forces after the Luftwaffe failed 
to keep them adequately supplied. 

Of course, most writers on the Battle of 
Stal in grad do briefly touch on the deci sion 
to airlift before launching into their de­
scriptions of Sixth Army's suffer ing or the 
Luft waffe's poor perform ance.  Their treat­
ment of the decision-- making process, how-
ever, is invaria bly weak and unper sua sive. 
Al most all blame Hermann Göring, the 
Luft waffe's in ef fec tual commander in 
chief. When Hitler asked him what the air 
force could do, they claim, Göring made 
rash promises of an airlift, hoping its suc­
cess would restore his flagging prestige. 
Lack ing dissent ing voices and trusting Gör­
ing, Hitler went ahead and or dered the air-
lift. Typif y ing this line of ar gu ment,
Gen er al feld mar schall Erich von Man stein 
wrote: “I am unsure whether Göring's 
frivo lous assur ances to Hitler were due to a 
false appre cia tion of exist ing capabili ties, or 
of a desper ate need for admi ra tion. What ever 
the cause, Göring was respon si ble.”3 

Many early writers on Stalin grad (includ­
ing von Manstein), it should be noted, were 
par tici pants in the events. Their biases and 
pre con cep tions are evident in their self-­
serving, blame-- shifting accounts. However, 
their works were influ en tial in shaping
schol arly opin ion in the first decades after 
the war, and their descrip tions and expla na­
tions have been, with a few excep tions,4 

ac cepted uncriti cally to the present day. In 
a recent work on Stalin grad, for exam ple, 
Franz Kurowski repeats many errors and 
con cludes: “What had moved Hitler to give 
this death or der to Sixth Army? During a 
tele phone con ver sa tion on 23 Novem ber 
1942, he asked Göring directly whether the 
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sup ply of Stal in grad by air was possi ble. 
Gör ing replied, `The thing appears feasi­
ble.'”5 Likewise, Samuel Mitcham writes in 
his own book on the Luftwaffe: 

The only way the Reichsmarschall could 
redeem himself in the Führer's eyes was to 
score a spectacular military victory. Stalingrad 
seemed to be his ticket. He promised Hitler 
that the Luftwaffe would resupply Stalingrad 
by air . . . . It was the major turning point of 
the war.6 

Gör ing was certainly among those re­
spon si ble for one of the war's most ill-­
considered deci sions, but he does not de-
serve sole blame, as this study tries to dem­
on strate.  It attempts to recre ate the 
decision- - making process from surviv ing
sources—in clud ing the diaries of Luftwaffe 
com mand ers in the Stal in grad sector, who 
found their oppo si tion to the airlift ignored 
by their army counter parts and by the High 
Com mand—and tries to deter mine culpa bil­
ity in a more evenhanded, dispas sion ate 
man ner than previ ously attempted. 

When the Soviet Fifth Tank and Twenty-­
first Ar mies launched their massive coun­
terof fen sive northwest of Stalin grad (code-­
named Ura nus) on 19 Novem ber, an ex­
hausted Hitler was enjoy ing a brief holiday 
at the Berghof, his mountain retreat in 
Berchtes gaden, southern Ba varia. His relaxa­
tion came to an abrupt end that after noon 
when he took a telephone call from his head­
quar ters in East Prussia.  Clearly agitated, 
Kurt Zeitzler, chief of the Army General 
Staff, shouted down the line that hundreds 
of Soviet tanks had shattered the Ruma nian 
front exactly where Hitler had earlier pre­
dicted and that the Ruma nian forma tions 
were in full flight.7 Repeated updates 
through out the after noon convinced Hitler 
that the situation was seri ous, although he 
still felt that Gener al ma jor Ferdinand 
Heim's LXVIII Panzer Corps could, if prop­
erly deployed, contain the enemy break-
through. He promptly ordered Genera loberst
Maxi mil ian von Weichs, commander of 
Army Group B, to abandon all further of-

fen sive opera tions within Stalin grad and 
trans fer forces from the city to the broken 
flank. 

When the Soviet Southwest ern Front 
breached the Axis flank south of Stalin grad 
the next day, Hitler real ized that his Fourth 
Pan zer and Sixth Armies were in grave dan­
ger of encir clem ent by the two great pin­
cers. He imme di ate ly contacted 
Gen er al feld mar schall von Manstein, whom 
he consid ered his best army opera tional com­
mander. He ordered him to abandon the 
planned attack at Velikiye Luki in the far 
north of Russia and to take charge of a 
newly created command, Army Group 
Don, in the Stalin grad sector.8 Von Manstein 
was ideal for the job because of his fine stra­
te gic mind and unpar al leled experience with 
Ru ma nian units. Although delighted by Hit­
ler's trust, the field marshal was initially dis­
cour aged to learn the compo si tion of his 
new army group: Ru ma nian Third Army, 
which had crumbled wherever struck; Fourth 
Pan zer Army, a large portion of which (in­
clud ing most of its tanks) lay trapped be-
tween the quickly closing Soviet pincers; 
and Sixth Army, completely bottled up. The 
lat ter was also worn down after months of 
con stant action, with all battal ions far below 
strength. Hitler did tell the field marshal to 
ex pect rein force ments total ing six infan try 
and four panzer di vi sions, a Luftwaffe field 
di vi sion, and some flak units. Of these 
forma tions, however, only two infan try di­
vi sions were at hand. The others would 
not arrive until early in Decem ber. 

Gör ing was certainly among those 
re spon si ble for one of the war's 
most ill-- considered deci sions, but 
he does not deserve sole blame. 

Gen era loberst Hans Jeschonnek, chief of 
the Luftwaffe General Staff, arrived at the 
Berg hof that same day (20 Novem ber). 
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Hit ler had summoned him from his head­
quar ters in East Prussia to discuss the air 
force's role in any attempted breakout or re-
lief opera tions.9  Göring was “too busy” to 
at tend; he was presid ing over an oil con­
ference at Karin hall, his country estate in Ber­
lin.  No verba tim records of Hitler's conver­
sa tion with Jeschonnek have surfaced, but 
the basic facts are known: Hitler explained 
that Sixth Army would probably be totally 
cut off within days, that he had organ ized 
a new army group under von Manstein, and 
that it would launch a relief effort as 
soon as possi ble. He hoped not only to 
free Sixth Army within a short time, but 
also to regain lost terri tory and rebuild a 
strong defen sive line.  Appar ently under-
stand ing Sixth Army's en cir clem ent to be 
tem po rary, Jeschonnek assured Hitler that 
if both transport planes and bombers were 
used, and if adequate airfields inside and 
out side the pocket could be maintained, the 
Luft waffe could airlift suffi cient supplies to 
the army. After all, he pointed out, the air 
force had success fully sustained one hun­
dred tho u s a nd men in the Demyansk pocket 
for several months during the previous win­
ter. 

The [Luft waffe] had sucessfully sus­
tained one hundred tho u s a nd men 
in the Demyansk pocket for several 
months during the previous winter. 

The compari son with Demyansk was 
specious, as Jeschonnek himself probably real­
ized as soon as he had time to think through 
the is sues (seldom possi ble when dealing 
with Hit ler, who always wanted imme di ate 
an swers to his questions). The one hundred 
th o u s a nd men of II Army Corps trapped at 
Demy ansk had required no less than three 
hun dred tons of supplies per day.10 Because 
of low opera tional rates caused by winter 
con di tions, the Luftwaffe had been forced to 

com mit almost five hundred Junkers Ju-- 52s 
to the airlift in order to ensure that suffi cient 
planes—around 150—could carry that ton­
nage each day.11  Further, the presence of the 
VVS (Voyenno- - vozdushnyye sily, the Soviet 
Air Force) at Demyansk had been negli gible, 
al low ing almost unin ter rupted German air 
op era tions with low losses.12 The situation 
at Stalin grad was very differ ent. First, almost 
three times as many men were encir cled 
there than had been at Demyansk. If one 
hun dred tho u s a nd men had needed three 
hun dred tons of supplies per day, then, logi­
cally, 250,000 men would need around 750 
tons, an almost impossible ton nage to de-
liver (as calcu la tions made at Hitler's head­
quar ters a few days later confirmed).13 

Sec ond, the Luftwaffe did not possess any-
where near enough transport aircraft and 
avail able bombers to deliver such 
tonnages. Third, VVS forces at Stalin grad 
were now far stronger than they had been at 
Demy ansk. They would greatly ham per airlift 
op era tions and inflict high losses. 

Jeschonnek's sponta ne ous and ill-­
considered assur ance that the air force could 
sus tain Sixth Army at Stalin grad pleased Hit­
ler. He could hardly allow the army to aban­
don that city after he had proclaimed to 
the entire Ger man nation in Septem ber 
that “you can be certain no one will get us 
away from there!” 14 and, only two weeks 
ear lier, had trum peted in the Munich Löwen­
bräukel ler that his forces had taken that 
“vitally- - important city . . . with Stalin's 
name,” where the “real” war was being 
fought.15  Unable to eat his words, Hitler 
now found himself commit ted to holding
Stal in grad.  On the after noon of the 21st, 
there fore, he sent a message directly to Pau­
lus, order ing him to stand firm “despite the 
dan ger of tempo rary encir clem ent.”  He was 
to hold open the rail link as long as possi­
ble. “As to airlift,” he added, “orders will 
fol low.”16 

Nei ther Hitler nor Jeschonnek envis aged 
an airlift of the Demyansk scale or dura tion. 
They still thought that von Manstein would 
soon break the encir clem ent and restore the 
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A cautious commander with little tacti cal imagina tion, Friedrich Paulus (center) lacked the strength of charac ter and 
de ci sive ness needed to state dissent ing views to Hitler.  His failure to do so was taken by Hit ler as support for his de­
ci sions. 

south ern front. Sixth Army would only need 
to be supplied by air in the meantime.  Yet 
that is clearly not the way army command ers 
in the field, faced with the grim reali ties of 
their predica ment, inter preted Hitler's ref­
erences to an airlift.  Sixth Army's senior offi­
cers felt that unless they broke out imme di­
ate ly (which they unsuc cess fully advo cated), 
their army would have to be supplied by 
air for weeks, if not months. They stated 
that it would need 750 tons of supplies per 
day (reduc ing this figure to five hundred tons 
within a few days). Their statements to this 
ef fect hor ri fied local Luftwaffe command ers, 
whose de pleted units would have to carry 
out the airlift. 

Later that day (21 Novem ber), Gen­
eralleut nant Martin Fiebig, commander of 
Fliegerkorps VIII, the Luftwaffe corps respon­
si ble for all air opera tions in the Stalin grad 

sec tor, tele phoned Gener al ma jor Schmidt, 
Sixth Army's chief of staff, to discuss the 
army's inten tions. Paulus listened on an-
other phone. Fiebig's report on this conver­
sa tion reveals the tension that quickly
de vel oped between army and air force com­
mand ers when the former readily embraced 
Hit ler's sugges tion that the air force would 
keep alive the trapped army: 

In response to my questions about Sixth 
Army's intentions, General Schmidt replied 
that the army commander proposed to deploy 
his army in a hedgehog [that is, all--around] 
defense of Stalingrad . . . . Regarding the 
possibilities of this hedgehog defense, I asked 
how they planned to keep Sixth Army 
supplied, especially when the supply line from 
the rear looked certain to be cut very soon. 
General Schmidt replied that supplies would 
have to be carried in by air. I replied that 
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Hit ler shaking hands with Genera loberst Wolfram Freiherr von Richthofen in Russia, mid-1942. The two got on fa­
mously, although Hitler never learned until much later that von Richthofen strenuously opposed the deci sion to airlift. 

supplying an entire army by air was impossible, 
particularly when our transport aircraft were 
already heavily committed in North Africa. I 
warned him against exaggerated expectations. 
Generaloberst Paulus entered the conversation 
occasionally on his other telephone line. Next 
morning, at 0700, I telephoned General Schmidt 
again, telling him that he was counting too 
strongly on air supply. I stressed to him again 
that, after long deliberations, based on my 
experience and knowledge of the [limited] means 
available, supplying Sixth Army by air was 
simply not feasible. Further, the weather and 
enemy situations were completely unpredictable 
factors.17 

An other prominent air leader shared Fie-
big's view: the highly decorated Genera­
loberst Wolf ram Freiherr von Richthofen, 
com mander of Luftflotte 4, the air fleet in 
charge of all Luftwaffe opera tions in south-
ern Russia (includ ing the Ukraine, the Cri­

mea, the Black Sea, the Cauca sus and, of 
course, the Stalin grad sector).  Von 
Richtho fen's views carried far more weight 
than those of Fiebig, his subordi nate.  Not 
only was he consid ered to be Ger many's 
lead ing opera tional air commander, but he 
was also liked and respected by the per son 
who mattered most: Hitler himself.  In 
fact, Hitler admired von Richthofen, a 
com mit ted National Social ist, aggres sive 
comman der, inspir ing leader, forthright ad­
viser, and loyal follower. 

Von Richthofen consid ered it sheer mad­
ness for Paulus and his staff to plan an all-­
around defense at Stalin grad and pin their 
hopes on the Luftwaffe to sustain their 
army. The air force simply lacked the abil­
ity to keep it supplied, he frantic ally warned 
eve ry one who would listen.  “Sixth Army
be lieves that it will be supplied by the air 
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Von Richthofen repeat edly insisted to senior army com­
mand ers and the High Command that his air fleet could 
not possi bly sustain Sixth Army by airlift.  His warnings 
fell on deaf ears. 

fleet in its hedgehog posi tions,” he com­
plained in his diary on the 21st.18  “I make 
every effort to con vince it that this cannot be 
ac com plished, because the neces sary trans-
port resources are not available.”  During
“dread fully many telephone calls . . . until 
late in the night,” he emphati cally insisted 
to almost every relevant air force and army
leader—in clud ing Gör ing in Berlin, Zeitzler 
in East Prussia,  Jeschon nek at Berchtesgaden, 
and von Weichs at Army Group B headquar­
ters—that he lacked the means to supply Pau­
lus's army. It should  imme di ately attempt 
to break out.19  His protests fell on deaf 
ears and, despite several requests, no one 
would put his call through to Hitler. 

The follow ing day, Gener al ma jor Wolfgang
Pick ert, commander of the 9th Flak Divi sion 
and the senior Luftwaffe offi cer trapped in 

the pocket, echoed these senti ments to Paulus 
and Schmidt during a confer ence in Nizhne­
- Chirskaya, attended by these gener als and 
Gen era loberst Hermann Hoth, Fourth Panzer 
Army's commander.  Accord ing to Pickert's 
sub se quent version of what transpired (the 
only surviv ing account), Schmidt asked him 
at one point what he thought should be 
done. “I would gather together all the forces 
I could and break out to the southwest,” the 
flak general bluntly replied.  Schmidt ex­
plained that Hitler had expressly ordered 
Sixth Army to stand fast at Stalin grad, that 
the army lacked suffi cient fuel for a proper 
break out attempt, and that the terrain itself 
com pli cated matters.  The Sovi ets held 
higher ground to the west, meaning that 
Sixth Army would be exposed to their guns 
if it attempted to break out. Such an at-
tempt would have to be made without 
heavy weapons, in any event, because of the 
fuel shortages.  Moreover, it would be neces­
sary to leave 15,000 sick and wounded sol­
diers to their fate. For these reasons, 
Schmidt added, a breakout would probably 
turn into a “Napo le onic catas tro phe.”20 

Pick ert rejected this as “nonsense,” insist­
ing that a breakout was the only solu tion. 
His flak forces could help consid era bly, he 
added. He had numer ous heavy batter ies for 
cov er ing fire, and his men could carry his 
20 mm flak guns (160 of them) and their am-
mu ni tion across the steppes. “No,” Schmidt 
con cluded, “the army has been ordered to 
stand fast at Stalin grad.  As a result, we shall 
form hedgehog defenses and expect supplies 
from the air.” The flak commander, who 
appar ently had no knowledge of Fiebig's pre­
vious debate with the army on the matter, was 
flab ber gasted.  “Supply an entire army from 
the air?—abso lutely impos si ble!  It simply can-
not be done, espe cially in this weather.” De-
spite repeat edly pleading with the Sixth Army 
to break out and explain ing at length the rea­
sons why the Luftwaffe could not keep it sup-
plied, Pick ert was unable to persuade the 
army. Pau lus had remained silent throughout 
the discus sion, but finally told the airman 
the two most important things in his 
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mind: that Hitler had ordered him to stand 
fast, and that a breakout attempt with the 
means available would probably only end in 
dis as ter.  Schmidt remained adamant about 
the airlift.  “It simply has to be done,” he 
stated, adding that his men would do their 
bit to cut down the supply level by eating the 
thou sands of horses within the pocket.21 

Thus, Luftwaffe command ers in the field 
were unanimous both in their belief that the 
air force could not supply the entire Sixth 
Army and in their condem na tion of the idea 
to local army command ers and to the High
Com mand itself.  They eventu ally made sev­
eral converts, most nota bly Zeitzler (as will 
soon be shown) and Genera loberst von 
Weichs, commander of Army Group B. The 
lat ter had listened carefully to von Richtho­
fen's argu ments.  Persuaded, he sent a tele­
typed message to the High Command on 22 
No vem ber.22  The prompt withdrawal of 
Sixth Army was essen tial, he said, espe cially 
because “the supply by air of the twenty divi­
sions that consti tute this army is not possi­
ble. With the air transport available, and in 
fa vor able weather condi tions, it is possi ble 
to carry in only one-- tenth of their essen tial 
daily require ments.”  Von Weichs added that 
al though a breakout would “entail heavy 
losses, espe cially in mate riel,” it was the 
only vi able option and would, if success ful, 
“re sult in favor able devel op ments in the 
situa tion as a whole.” 

Von Richthofen consid ered it sheer

mad ness for Paulus and his staff to

plan an all-- around defense at

Stal in grad and pin their hopes on

the Luft waffe to sustain their army. 

The air force simply lacked the abil­

ity to keep it supplied, he

fran tic ally warned every one who

would listen.


Sev eral of the army corps command ers 
bot tled up in Stalin grad also agreed that the 
war was over for them if the High Command 
re fused a breakout and ordered an airlift. 
On 22 Novem ber, while Pickert was battling
Pau lus and Schmidt in Nizhne-- Chirskaya,  a 
meet ing between corps command ers took 
place at Gumrak, within the pocket.23  Acting 
on his own initia tive, Wal ther von Seydlitz, 
com mander of LI Army Corps, summoned 
the other corps command ers—Gen er als Erwin 
Jaenicke of IV Army Corps, Walter Heitz of 
IV Army Corps, Karl Strecker of XI Army 
Corps, and Hans Hube of XIV Panzer 
Corps—to discuss the situation.  They all 
agreed that they must gather all their 
strength for an attempt to break through the
en cir clem ent.  They scheduled their attack 
for the 25th and, in agreement with von 
Weichs (but not with Paulus, who had no 
knowl edge of their plans at that stage), be­
gan regroup ing for the opera tion. 

How ever, Paulus—like his chief of 
staff—was appar ently not persuaded by the air-
men's warn ings.  He vacil lated throughout 
the 22d and 23d, afraid to contra dict Hit­
ler's order to stand fast even though he 
knew his oppor tu ni ties for a success ful 
break out were disappear ing with every
pass ing hour. On the 22d, he did request 
“free dom of deci sion in the event of failure 
to construct southern defen sive posi tions.” 
Yet, totally ignor ing von Richtho fen's, Fie-
big's, and Pickert's logical argu ments 
against an airlift, he stated that as long as he 
could close his exposed southern front “and 
re ceive ample airborne supplies,” he in-
tended to hold the area still in his posses-
sion.24  Next evening, in response to 
Hit ler's fresh order to construct all-­
around de fen sive posi tions and await relief 
from outside, the gen eral replied with an-
other teletype message. This time he did 
al lude to mounting oppo si tion to the pro-
posed airlift, but said only that “timely and 
ade quate supply has been ruled out.”25  His 
army must break through the encir clem ent 
to the southwest, he stated, because it was 
now suffer ing acute fuel and ammu ni tion 
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short ages and increas ing enemy at tacks 
against certain sectors.  As the army could 
not hold out for long, he again requested 
“free dom of deci sion.”  His five corps com­
mand ers, he added, shared his views on 
the situation. 

Hit ler's ears were now deaf to such pleas. 
His mind was firmly made up. After arriv ing 
back at his East Prussian headquar ters on the 
23d, he replied to Paulus by radio in the 
early hours of the 24th. Sixth Army (which 
he now desig nated “Fortress Stalin grad”) 
would stay and defend itself vigor ously. 
“Air supply by a hundred more Junkers is 
get ting under way,” he said, trying to reas­
sure the frantic army commander.26  By 
now, Hitler's notion of an airlift opera tion 
had changed con sid era bly since Jeschonnek 
had first assured him that Sixth Army 
could be supplied by air. He had then de-
scribed the army's encir clem ent as tem­
po rary, and Jeschonnek had made his rash 
as sur ance with that in mind. Now he clearly
en vis aged a Demyansk-- style airlift, only even 
larger and longer lasting.  “Sixth Army will 
stay where it is,” he yelled at Zeitzler in the 
even ing of the 23d, accord ing to the latter's 
post war account. “It is the garri son of a for-
tress, and the duty of fortress troops is to
with stand sieges. If neces sary they will hold 
out all winter, and I shall relieve them by a 
spring offen sive.”27 

The firmness of Hitler's convic tion that 
the “fortress” should stand fast and that the 
Luft waffe could keep it adequately supplied 
had grown consid era bly in the two days since 
Jeschon nek had first mentioned it. One of 
the main reasons for his increased convic tion 
was the almost unanimous support for the 
de ci sion expressed by those around him. At 
Berchtes gaden, and during his long train 
jour ney to East Prussia on the 23d, Hitler 
had no contact—per sonal or telegraphic—with 
the army and air force command ers at the 
front. During that critical decision-- making
pe ri od, he did not speak to von Richthofen, 
Fie big, or Pickert, whose air forces would 
have to carry out the massive supply opera­
tion and who were now frantic ally warning 

al most every one else that they lacked the 
means to sustain Sixth Army. Nor did he 
com mu ni cate with von Weichs, who shared 
their view and advo cated an imme di ate 
break out.  Hitler learned of their views from 
Zeitzler, who had finally “come around” and 
now defended their assess ment.  Yet, be-
cause their warnings were not deliv ered per-
son ally, but only passed on by the army's 
“over anx ious” chief of staff, they carried lit­
tle weight. Hitler merely accused Zeitzler of 
be ing too pessi mis tic and advised him to 
stop paying heed to “defeat ist” command ers 
who couldn't see the forest for the trees. 

The military advis ers accom pa ny ing
Hit ler—his faithful paladins, Wil helm Keitel 
and Alfred Jodl, and their skeleton 
staffs—were in no posi tion to make detailed 
as sessments or of fer in formed advice. 
The syco phan tic Keitel, who seldom ex-

pressed views contrary to Hitler's, acted 
true to form throughout this crucial peri od. 
“The Volga must be held! . . . Sixth Army 
must hold out!” he repeat edly told Hitler. 
Al though Jodl was no lackey, despite the 
ef forts of many postwar writers to paint 
him as one, he was still smarting from the 
rough treatment Hitler had dished out when 
he sided with Gen er al feld mar schall Wil­
helm List against him in Septem ber.  He 
was not yet ready to receive more. He 
there fore gave Hitler far more cautious but 
still agreeable advice: although Sixth Army 
was certainly in a predica ment, he argued, 
and its destruc tion looked certain if relief 
was not forthcom ing, the vast terri to rial 
gains made during the summer campaign 
should not be abandoned bef ore von Man-
stein's relief opera tion was attempted.  In 
the meantime, the Luftwaffe should keep 
the army supplied. 

Aside from Zeitzler's, the only dissent ing 
voice Hitler heard during his last two days 
in Berchtesgaden and his long journey north 
to East Prussia belonged to Jeschonnek, 
who had abandoned his earlier posi tion and 
now meekly suggested that Sixth Army 
should break out.28  He regret ted his ear­
lier assuran ces to Hitler.  Almost as soon as 
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the words were out of his mouth, he wished 
he could swal low them again. After having 
his staff check his figures and after talking 
with von Richtho fen several times by tele­
phone, he quickly real ized that nothing 
close to adequate logis ti cal support of Sixth 
Army by air would be possi ble, even with 
con sis tently favor able weather and taking no 
ac count of VVS action.  He and von Richtho­
fen were close friends, but the latter clearly
domi nated their rela tion ship and, when they
dis agreed on matters, usually managed to 
win Jeschonnek over. This was clearly one 
such case. However, although Jeschonnek 
no ti fied Hitler that he might have been too 
hasty when he made his earlier assess ment, 
his retrac tion carried no weight. Not only 
did Keitel and Jodl believe Sixth Army 
should stay, Hitler re torted, but Jeschon­
nek's own supe rior, Reichsmar schall Gör­
ing, had now given his personal assur ance 
that the air force could fully meet the 
army's supply needs. 

Re spon si bil ity for the deci sion to 
sup ply Sixth Army . . . rests with 

three indi vidu als:  Jeschonnek, Hit­
ler, and Göring. 

De ter min ing when Göring first specifi­
cally assured Hitler that the Luftwaffe could 
sup ply the army is diffi cult because of the 
pau city of reli able and detailed sources. 
How ever, David Irving, who has recon­
structed Göring's movements in this peri od,
be lieves that Hitler had first phoned him on 
21 Novem ber, a full day after Jeschonnek 
had made his rash promise and shortly after 
Hit ler had first mentioned the airlift to Pau-
lus.29  This view gains support from von 
Richtho fen's diary descrip tion of a discus­
sion he had with Hitler at the “Wolf's Lair” 
on 11 Febru ary 1943, almost two weeks after 
Pau lus surren dered and his surviv ing troops 
stag gered into Soviet captiv ity.  Hitler ad­

mit ted to von Richthofen that Göring was 
not entirely to blame for the failed airlift; he 
had himself promised Sixth Army that it 
would be supplied by air, “without the 
Reichsmar schall's knowledge.”30 

When Göring first discussed an airlift 
with Hitler on 21 Novem ber, he lacked up-­
to- - the- - minute infor ma tion on Sixth 
Army's encir clem ent and statis ti cal data 
with which to make air supply calcu la tions. 
He therefore gave no specific assur ances 
about his force's airlift tonnage capa bili ties,
in sist ing instead that Sixth Army should 
stand fast and that, as Jeschonnek had said the 
pre vious day, the Luftwaffe would do all in 
its power to meet the army's needs. As soon 
as he got off the phone, he summoned his 
quar ter mas ter staff and ordered every
avail able transport plane—includ ing his own 
cou rier flight—to be mobi lized for the op­
era tion.  Göring's actions are remark able, 
con sid er ing that he had not yet studied de-
tailed data or consulted air supply experts. 
He later told von Richthofen that at the very
be gin ning of the Stalin grad episode, he had 
played the opti mist and supported Hitler in 
his deci sion to stand fast there.31  At that 
point, von Richthofen added, Göring had 
still believed Sixth Army's encir clem ent to 
be tempo rary. 

Gör ing's assur ances became much stronger 
on the follow ing day (22 Novem ber), when 
he arrived in Berchtesgaden.  Hitler asked 
his bulky deputy whether he still supported 
the air-- supply proposal.  Göring replied 
con fi dently, “Ja, it can be done.” He could 
give no other answer, he later told Genera­
loberst Bruno Lörzer, his close friend, be-
cause the Nazi leader used the worst kind of 
emo tional blackmail: 

Hitler said to me: “Listen here, Göring. If the 
Luftwaffe cannot carry this through, then 
Sixth Army is lost!” He had me firmly by the 
sword--knot. I could do nothing but agree, 
otherwise the air force and I would be left 
with the blame for the loss of the army. So I 
had to reply: “Mein Führer, we'll do the 
job!”32 
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He could hardly have rejected the airlift 
proposal anyway, he lamely explained after-
wards to Paul Körner (under sec re tary of state 
for the Four Year Plan), because his own 
chief of staff had already convinced Hitler 
that the air force could supply the encir cled 
forces.  “Hitler already had Jeschonnek's pa­
pers before I set eyes on them,” he told Kör­
ner, doubtless trying to shift some blame to 
his chief of staff. “I could only say, `Mein 
Führer, you have all the figures. If they are
cor rect, then I place myself at your dis­
posal.'”33 

Jeschon nek's original figures were not ac­
cu rate, however, as Göring learned just 
hours later. Oberst Eschenauer, Jeschonnek's 
sup ply offi cer, informed his boss that the 
stan dard “250 kg” and “1,000 kg” air-­
supply con tain ers on which he based his cal­
cu la tions actu ally carried only around two-­
thirds of those loads.34 Their names derived 
solely from the size of the bombs they re-
placed on bomb racks. Jeschonnek, an hon­
est man who admit ted his mistakes, 
im me di ate ly told Göring, and asked him to 
warn Hitler that their calcu la tions were 
based on incor rect data. Göring winced 
when his young chief of staff confessed to 
this error, but, believ ing it was “too late 
now,” expressly forbade him to tell Hitler. In-
stead, he phoned Hitler, re peated his uncon­
di tional assur ances that the Luft waffe could 
do the job and invited him to phone Gener­
al feld mar schall Erhard Milch, his deputy 
and Air Inspec tor--Gen eral, if he still felt 
un sure. When Milch finally learned of this 
in 1946, he angrily scrawled in his diary: “De­
ceit plus incom pe tence equals one 
Reichsmar schall! I guessed it already, but 
now I get proof of it, it makes me want to 
throw up all over again.”35 

Ac cord ing to Zeitzler's postwar claims, after 
Hit ler arrived back in East Prussia late next 
even ing—23 Novem ber—he vigor ously 
tried to persuade Hitler that Göring's prom­
ises were impos si ble to keep. After explain­
ing at length the tonnages required and the 
lack of aircraft to carry them, Zeitzler told
Hit ler that “having exam ined the facts in de-

tail, the conclu sion is ines cap able: it is not 
pos si ble to keep the Sixth Army supplied 
by air.”36 Hit ler remained outwardly calm, 
but, with annoy ance evident in his voice, 
stated, “The Reichsmar schall has assured 
me that it is possi ble.” When Zeitzler stood 
his ground, Hitler sent for the air force 
chief. “Göring,” he asked, “can you keep the 
Sixth Army supplied by air?” The airman 
raised his right arm and said, “Mein Führer, 
I assure you that the Luftwaffe can keep the 
Sixth Army supplied.” Hitler cast Zeitzler a 
tri um phant glance, but the general refused 
to back down. “The Luftwaffe certainly can-
not,” he insisted, to which Göring angrily re­
torted, “You are not in a posi tion to give an 
opin ion on that.”  Hitler was surprised by the
un dis guised hostil ity between his com­
mand ers, but granted Zeitzler permis sion 
to challenge Göring's promises. “Herr 
Reichsmar schall,” he said. “Do you know 
what tonnage has to be flown in every day?” 
Caught off-- guard, the embar rassed air 
leader spat back, “I don't, but my staff offi­
cers do.” Zeitzler had come armed. His own 
staff had made detailed calcu la tions, which 
he imme di ate ly summa rized: 

Allowing for all the stocks at present with 
Sixth Army, allowing for absolute minimum 
needs and the taking of all possible emergency 
measures, the Sixth Army will require delivery 
of three hundred tons per day. But since not 
every day is suitable for flying, as I myself 
learned at the front last winter, this means 
that about five hundred tons will have to be 
carried to Sixth Army on each and every 
flying day if the irreducible minimum 
average is to be maintained. 

“I can do that,” Göring shot back. Losing his 
tem per, Zeitzler shouted: “Mein Führer! 
That is a lie!” Hitler thought for a minute 
bef ore reply ing: “The Reichsmarschall has 
made his report to me, which I have no 
choice but to believe. I therefore abide by 
my original deci sion [to supply the army by 
air].” 

Zeitzler's frequently cited descrip tion of 
this argu ment with Göring should not be 
treated as a verba tim record because it is 
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Gen er al leut nant Erich von Manstein initially thought 
Sixth Army should remain at Stalin grad, supported by 
the Luftwaffe, until he could mount a relief opera tion. 
His report to this effect hardened Hitler's resolve that 
the Luftwaffe would have to keep Sixth Army alive and 
op era tional. 

based on his subjec tive recol lec tion of the 
ex change and was appar ently not written 
down until the follow ing day. However, the 
ac count is almost certainly an honest attempt 
at recon struct ing the event. Zeitzler's open 
op po si tion to the airlift is mentioned in sev­
eral reli able sources, includ ing von Richtho­
fen's diary, as is his courage to express 
opin ions con trary to Hitler's. But placing this 
ac count chronologi cally within this crucial 
de ci sion--mak ing peri od poses problems. 
Zeitzler himself could not remem ber the 
date, noting only that it took place “be-
tween 22 and 26 Novem ber.”37 

Most writers place the argu ment in the 
early hours of 24 Novem ber—that is, shortly
af ter Hitler arrived from Berchtesgaden and 

shortly before he issued his fateful order to 
Pau lus that his army must stand fast, that a re-
lief opera tion was being launched, and that 
the Luftwaffe, bolstered by “a hundred 
more Junkers,” would keep the army sup-
plied.38  If the argu ment did occur at that 
point, then it repre sents the last major ap­
peal to Hitler to change his mind and the 
most weighty challenge to Göring's uncon­
di tional assur ances that his air force would 
meet the trapped army's supply needs. It 
shows not only that Hitler had already 
firmly made up his mind before he arrived 
back in East Prussia, but that his deputy's 
em bar rass ing unfa mili ar ity with the ton­
nages he had promised to supply should 
have raised grave doubts in his mind about 
the reli abil ity of those promises.  Before it was 
too late, Hitler should have reex am ined the 
ta bles and graphs drawn up by Jeschonnek, 
Zeitzler, and the army quartermaster-­
general; and he should have spoken to von 
Richtho fen, whose air fleet was to carry out 
the air supply opera tion. 

How ever, the argu ment with Zeitzler did 
not take place on the 24th, before the air-
lift began.  It could not have. After Gör ing
vis ited Hitler at the Berghof on the 22d, he 
de parted for Paris in “Asia,” his luxuri ous
com mand train. He spent the next four 
days—when he should have been organ iz ing 
the airlift—vis it ing Pari sian art dealers and 
gal ler ies.39  Von Richthofen was appalled.  “I 
urge Jeschonnek and Zeitzler to report my 
views to the Führer,” he wrote in his diary 
on the 25th, “and to harness the Reichsmar­
schall, but he's in Paris!”40  Göring arrived 
back at Hitler's headquar ters in Rasten burg 
on the 27th, and his heated exchange with 
Zeitzler probably took place at that point; 
that is, three days after Hitler had given the
fi nal go-- ahead for the airlift.  Despite the 
claims of numer ous writers, therefore, the 
ar gu ment played no part in the decision-­
making process.  The die had already been 
cast. 

Hit ler's deci sion to keep Sixth Army at 
Stal in grad and support it from the air until 
a relief opera tion could break its encir clem-
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ent was poorly received by the command ers 
in the field. Von Richthofen again tried des­
per ately to convince every one who would 
lis ten that Hitler must be given an honest 
ap praisal of the facts. He phoned Jeschon­
nek (three times), von Weichs, and Zeitzler, 
once more pleading with them to have his 
views made known to Hitler (which they 
did, to no avail).41  He was disap pointed by 
what he correctly perceived to be Jeschon­
nek's lack of courage in Hitler's presence, 
not ing that “Weichs and Zeitzler share my 
view. Jeschonnek has no view at all.” He 
was most up set the next day to learn that the
air lift would proceed, despite their warn­
ings: 

The Führer heard everything we had to say, 
but decides against it because he believes the 
army can hold on and he does not think we 
could reach Stalingrad again. I stand by my 
own opinion.  Still, orders are orders and 
everything will be done pursuant to the orders 
received. It is tragic that none of the locally-­
responsible commanders, although purportedly 
possessing [the Führer's] confidence, has any 
influence at all now. . . . As things are at present, 
operationally speaking, we are nothing more 
than highly--paid non--commissioned 
officers.42 

Von Richthofen was stunned that the 
High Command expected him to fly in at 
least three hundred tons per day. “We sup-
ply [the pocket today] with all our Ju-- 52s, 
but we only have 30 available for that.” He 
added in his diary on the 25th: 

Of yesterday's 47 Ju 52s, 22 made sorties [into 
the pocket]; of today's 30, 9 made sorties. 
We flew in 75 tons today, instead of the 300 
tons ordered by the High Command, which is 
not possible with the few Ju 52s available. I 
report[ed] this to the Reichsmarschall. 

Von Seydlitz, commander of LI Army 
Corps, also complained that Hitler's or­
der was im pos si ble to fulfill.  He sent Pau­
lus a lengthy report, which warned that 
there could be no question of standing firm: 
“The army has a clear choice:  it must 
break through to the south west in the gen­

eral direc tion of Kotelnik ovo or face destruc­
tion within days.”43  The army's supply
situa tion, he insisted, would decide the mat­
ter. To believe the Luftwaffe could keep the 
army supplied was grasping at straws, espe­
cially since only 30 Ju-- 52s were at hand 
and, even if the other hundred aircraft Hit­
ler promised actu ally mate ri al ized, they 
could still not meet the army's needs in 
full. Unfor tu nately, von Seydlitz's report 
con tained several careless inac cu ra cies 
which robbed it of its persua sive ness.  He 
stated, for exam ple, that even one tho u s a nd 
tons of supplies per day would not be suffi­
cient, whereas Sixth Army's own quarter-
mas ter had just reported that the army could
sur vive if the Luftwaffe carried in five hun­
dred tons each day (three hundred cubic 
me ters of fuel and two hundred tons of am-
mu ni tion).44  Schmidt and Paulus still sent 
the report to von Manstein, adding that, al­
though they disagreed with many of von 
Seyd litz's reasons, they shared his view that 
the army should break out imme di ate ly. 

Un for tu nately for all those opposed to 
Hit ler's “stand fast” and airlift deci sions, 
von Man stein made his own thorough assess­
ment of the situation and sent the High 
Com mand a far more opti mis tic appraisal.45 

His posi tion was similar to Jodl's: while he 
agreed that a breakout was the safest 
course, and that the army remained in dan­
ger if it stayed in its present posi tions, he was 
not convinced by Army Group B's insis tence 
on an imme di ate breakout.  If a relief opera­
tion could start in early Decem ber, he ar­
gued, and if the promised rein force ments 
ar rived in time, it was still possi ble to save 
the army. Of course, he cautioned, if it 
proved impos si ble to launch the relief opera­
tion or meet the army's supply needs by air, 
then it should break out. Hitler felt vindi­
cated. He highly valued von Man stein's 
opin ions (as did most of his senior offi cers), 
and proudly informed Zeitzler and his other 
ad vis ers that the field marshal's assess ment 
was far more in keeping with his own views 
than those of his “defeat ist” gener als.  The 
de bate was over; he had won—for now. 
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Thus, respon si bil ity for the deci sion to 
sup ply Sixth Army—one of the most fateful 
de ci sions of the war—rests with three in­
di vidu als: Jeschonnek, Hitler, and Gör­
ing.  Jeschonnek rashly made the first 
as sur ances  that the Luftwaffe was capa ble 
of meeting the army's logis ti cal needs bef­
ore he had con sulted air transport experts, 
made detailed calcu la tions of his own, or 
sought the views of von Richthofen and the 
other air force and army command ers at 
the front. Their evaluations of the situa­
tion and the capa bilities of their respec tive 
forces would have been far more detailed 
and reli able than the situation assess ments 
made by Hitler and his entou rage (thou-
sands of kilome ters away in Hitler's alpine
re treat in southern Bavaria), whose main 
source of infor ma tion was Zeitzler's  tele phone 
“up dates.”  Jeschonnek should have requested 
a little time to do homework before present­
ing an opinion on the matter. 

When Jeschonnek gave his initial as­
suran ces to Hitler, however, he believed that 
the army's encir clem ent would be tempo­
rary and, therefore, that its long-- term sur­
vival did not depend on the air force's 
abil ity to keep it supplied.  Had he known 
then that Sixth Army would need supply­
ing for several weeks, if not several 
months, he certainly would not have 
prom ised Hitler anything with out exten­
sive research.  To his credit, when he did 
learn that Sixth Army's encir clem ent would 
last longer than originally claimed, that von 
Richtho fen and Fiebig forcefully opposed 
the airlift, and that his own hasty calcu la­
tions were inac cu rate, he imme di ate ly ad­
mit ted his mistakes and tried to dissuade 
Hit ler and Göring.  He lacked both a force­
ful person al ity and the respect of his bosses, 
so, as a result, they simply ignored his warn­
ings. Jeschonnek's culpa bil ity, then, stems 
from rashness, a faulty original assess ment 
of the situa tion, and an inabil ity to stand 
up to stronger person ali ties.  It does not 
stem from dishon esty or incom pe tence. 

When consid er ing Hitler's respon si bil­
ity for the deci sion to supply Sixth Army by 

air, one should note that he was unable to 
fo cus solely on that matter.  He had to di­
vide his at ten tion between events at Stalin grad 
and what he mistak enly perceived to be the 
equally criti cal situation in North Africa. 
Only a fortnight after Gen Bernard Mont­
gom ery launched his offen sive against Erwin 
Rom mel's posi tions at El Alamein and four 
days after his army captured them (which 
threw Hitler into a fit of rage), major 
Anglo- - American landings took place in 
Mo rocco and Alge ria on 8 Novem ber. 
French resis tance quickly col lapsed, and sub­
se quent events forced Hitler to launch Opera­
tion Anton, the occu pa tion of Vichy France, 
on the 11th. To make matters worse, he felt 
he needed to pour scores of thousands of 
troops into Tuni sia to counter the advance 
of Anglo-- American forces pushing eastward 
to wards Rommel's Afrika Korps, still falling 
back westward before Montgom ery's Eighth 
Army. Anton quickly reached its suc cess­
ful conclu sion.  Yet, when Stalin launched 
Op era tion Uranus on 19 Novem ber, events 
were still going very poorly for German 
troops in North Africa and Hitler's mind 
was focused on their survival and, he hoped, 
on opera tions to restore the situation. Thus, 
dis tracted by events in the Mediterra nean,
Hit ler was unable to focus his atten tion 
solely on the grave situation in the east. 
Had he chosen to concen trate on Stalin grad 
and the secu rity of the Don/Donets region, 
stra te gi cally more impor tant than Tuni sia,  he 
may have made differ ent choices than the 
ones that eventu ally led to the loss of an en-
tire army. 

Decid ing to supply Sixth Army by air was 
not Hitler's only mistake.  His deci sion to 
pour men and equipment into Tu ni sia dur­
ing this critical peri od rates as one of the 
worst he ever made. As histo rian Vincent 
Or ange noted, “The campaign, however pro-
longed, could have only one result: an Axis 
de feat.”46  The Allies, he explained, “enjoyed 
com mand of the sea, the air and an enormous 
ad van tage on land in numbers of troops, 
tanks, guns and supplies of all kind (espe cially 
fuel).” Thus, the 81,000 German troops 
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landed in Tuni sia between Novem ber 1942 
and January 1943,47 plus the 250 Ju-- 52s used 
to transport them, were wasted in a campaign 
with little strate gic value and no chance of 
suc cess.  Those men and aircraft could have 
made a crucial differ ence to German for-
tunes in the far more impor tant 
Don/Donets region had they been sent to 
von Manstein and von Richthofen instead. 

Hit ler's respon si bil ity for the airlift out-
weighs Jeschonnek's.  First, his own initial 
per cep tions about the devel op ing encir­
clem ent and the fate of Sixth Army were not 
based on ration al ity, but egotism.  His “iron 
will” alone had saved his eastern armies 
during the previous winter, he believed.  It 
would do so again. This explains his com­
ment to Zeitzler on the first night after he 
re turned to East Prussia.  “We must show 
firm ness of charac ter in misfor tune,” he lec­
tured. “We must remem ber Freder ick the 
Great.”48  Second, he also consid ered it es­
sen tial to stand fast at Stalin grad because he 
could not withdraw, without losing face, 
from the “strategically-- important” city that 
he had publicly vowed several times to keep. 
Third, because Jeschonnek's assur ances 
supported his own precon cep tions, he uncriti­
cally ac cepted them, although the airman 
had clearly not reflected or conducted re-
search bef ore making them. Fourth, from 
the moment he received those assur ances, 
which suited his own views so well, Hitler 
closed his mind to alter na tive strategies. 
Fifth, he totally ignored the repeated ap­
peals and warnings of his frontline army 
and air force command ers, unfairly calling 
them “defeat ists” because they challenged 
the inflexi ble, “stand fast” formula that he 
had elevated to the status of doctrine. 
Sixth, he accepted Gör ing's promises and 
re as sur ances as uncriti cally as he had ac­
cepted Jeschonnek's, de spite the fact that 
Reichsmar schall Gör ing had a poor track
rec ord, had exer cised only nominal com­
mand of the Luftwaffe during the last year,
in stead delegat ing the force's day-- to- - day
run ning to his subor di nates, and, despite 
the crucial nature of the present situation at 

Stal in grad, had evidently made no real effort 
to famil iar ize himself with the issues in­
volved. Lastly, he did not sack Göring and 
re place him with someone compe tent, or 
even demand that he act respon si bly in this 
criti cal peri od.  He should at least have for-
bid den him (in von Richthofen's words) “to 
swan off to Paris to plunder art galler ies” 
and ordered him to stay in Rasten burg to or­
gan ize and oversee the Stalin grad airlift, the 
larg est in military history, upon which hung 
the lives of a quarter of a million men. 

Gör ing's respon si bil ity for the airlift de­
ci sion equals Hitler's.  When the Nazi leader 
first asked him whether the Luftwaffe could, 
as Jeschonnek had promised, fully meet 
Sixth Army's logis ti cal needs, he should not 
have given an imme di ate answer.  He should 
first have consulted his air transport experts,
stud ied all available infor ma tion on the 
situa tion at Stalin grad (enemy strengths and
ac tivi ties, the size and state of trapped 
forces, the condi tion and capa bili ties of Luft­
flotte 4, weather patterns and projec tions, 
and so on) and sought the opinions of von 
Richtho fen and the Fliegerkorps command­
ers involved.  Remarka bly, Göring failed to 
do this, not only before making his first as­
sur ances, but also before making his final 
prom ises prior to leaving for Paris. 

Gör ing aggres sively dominated his own 
staff, driving two of his senior offi cers to 
sui cide (Ernst Udet in Novem ber 1941 and 
Jeschon nek in August 1943). Yet, he proved 
in ca pa ble of standing up to Hitler.  He rarely 
even expressed views contrary to Hitler's (at 
least in the latter's presence), espe cially after 
his obvi ous failure to defeat Britain from 
the air and to defend Germany's cities from 
ever-- incre asing Allied air attacks.  These fail­
ures had steadily reduced his standing in 
Hit ler's eyes throughout 1941 and 1942. In-
stead, he lapsed into subser vi ence, hoping 
his slavish loyalty would repair their rela­
tion ship.  It is probable, then, that Göring's
un con di tional assur ances that his air force 
could maintain Sixth Army stem from his
in abil ity to resist Hitler or challenge his 
views (“I gained the impres sion that he was 
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afraid of Hitler,” Milch once wrote49) and 
from his intense desire to restore his tat­
tered prestige. 

Her mann Plocher argued that Göring “may 
also have sincerely believed that he could 
ac com plish the airlift opera tion to satis fac­
tion, just as he had done in some instances 
in the past, by combin ing the influ ences 
of his several offices and adding his own 
bru tal energy.”50  Plocher was wrong. Gör­
ing did not “sincerely” believe that he could 
do the job, other wise no sense can be made 
of his comments to Lörzer that Hitler had 
him “by the sword-- knot” and that he could 
“do nothing but agree” because he did not 
want to “be left with the blame.” Also, his 
re fusal to inform Hitler that Jeschonnek's 
origi nal calcula tions were based on false 
prem ises and infor ma tion removes any sug­
ges tion of “sincer ity.” He delib er ately with-
held embar rass ing but impor tant
in for ma tion from Hitler.  Addi tion ally, at no 
point during the course of the airlift did he 
throw his “brutal energy” into making sure it 
suc ceeded.  On the contrary, rather than 
stay and organ ize and oversee the crucial 
op era tion himself, he disappeared to Paris 
on a shopping trip and then, on his return, 
only rarely attempted to involve himself in 
its progress. 

To sum up, then, this arti cle shows that 
Hit ler's deci sion to leave Sixth Army 
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